ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE JUDI CI ARY STANDI NG COW TTEE
February 1, 2017
2:35 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Matt C aman, Chair
Representative Zach Fansler, Vice Chair
Represent ati ve Jonat han Krei ss- Tonki ns
Representative Gabrielle LeDoux
Representative David East man
Represent ati ve Chuck Kopp
Representative Lora Reinbold

MEMBERS ABSENT
Representative Louise Stutes (alternate)
COW TTEE CALENDAR
HOUSE BI LL NO 24
"An  Act classifying U 47700 as a schedule |IA <controlled
substance; and providing for an effective date."
- MOVED HB 24 QUT OF COW TTEE
PREVI QUS COMM TTEE ACTI ON
BILL: HB 24

SHORT TITLE: LIST U-47700 AS A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE
SPONSOR(s): REPRESENTATI VE(s) M LLETT

01/ 18/ 17 (H PREFI LE RELEASED 1/9/ 17

01/ 18/ 17 (H READ THE FI RST TIME - REFERRALS
01/ 18/ 17 (H JUD, FIN

02/ 01/ 17 (H JUD AT 2:15 PM GRUENBERG 120

W TNESS REG STER

REPRESENTATI VE CHARI SSE M LLETT

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

POSI TI ON STATEMENT: During the hearing of HB 24, presented the
| egi sl ation as prine sponsor.

ROBERT HENDERSON, Chief Assistant Attorney

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -1- February 1, 2017



General and Wiite Collar Crime Prosecutor

O fice of Special Prosecution

Depart ment of Law (DQL)

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: During the hearing of HB 24, answered
gquesti ons.

JEFF TURNER, St aff

Representative Charisse MIlett

Al aska State Legislature

Juneau, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: During the hearing of HB 24, answered
guesti ons.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

2: 35: 54 PM

CHAI R MATT CLAMAN called the House Judiciary Standing Conmmttee
nmeeting to order at 2:35 p.m Representati ves Fansler, Kreiss-
Tonkins, LeDoux, Eastnan, Kopp, Reinbold, and danan were
present at the call to order.

HB 24-LI ST U- 47700 AS A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE

2:36: 32 PM

CHAIR CLAMAN announced that the only business before the
commttee is HOUSE BILL NO 24, "An Act classifying U-47700 as a
schedule I A controll ed substance; and providing for an effective
date."

2:37:09 PM

REPRESENTATI VE CHARISSE M LLETT, Alaska State Legislature
advi sed that HB 24 addresses the opioid crisis epidemc. People
around the state are losing their |ives, once a person is
addicted to opioids it is one of the nobst dangerous drugs to
manage, and is one of the hardest drugs to get off. This bil

addresses additive U 47700, a synthetic opioid added to heroin
and other street drugs. She said U 47700 is eight tines
stronger than fentanyl and has a street nane of "Pink," and
peopl e unknowi ngly buy heroin with U 47700 added as one of the
ingredients. This bill sinply adds U-47700 to schedule 1A, wth
t he chem cal makeup of 3,4-dichloro-N[ 2-

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 2- February 1, 2017



(di met hyl am no) cycl ohexvl ] - N- net hyl benam de, also known as U
47700 or "Pink." She advised that this bill came to her by way
of the governor, and as a recommendations from the Controlled
Subst ances Advisory Conmittee (CSAC) to add Pink onto schedule
1A. Designer drugs, such as U 47700, are produced on a regular
basis and it's hard to predict what the synthetic makeup of that
drug will be, but it can be put on the list after it is defined.
These designer drugs are becomng stronger and nore potent,
produced from countries outside of the USA, and because they are
not currently on the state's registry one could go online and
buy U-47700 through an internet website. Qutlawing this in the
State of Alaska will nake it unavailable, she stressed. The
federal governnent recently put U 47700 on its schedul e and, she
commented, the federal governnent has a unique way of putting
their scheduled drugs onto the federal registry because it goes
through a regulatory process, and not through a |egislative
pr ocess. She suggested adding a regulatory option to the
state's schedul ed drugs, especially drugs as dangerous as Pink

U 47700.

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT explained there is no sectional analysis
because it sinply adds the chem cal makeup of 3, 4-dichloro-N][2-
(di met hyl am no) cycl ohexvl ] - N- net hyl benami de to t he state's
schedul e 1A statute.

2:41:09 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KREI SS- TOWKI NS commented that it nakes sense to
have a regulatory process allowing the designated departnent to
use its discretion.

REPRESENTATIVE M LLETT suggested that possibly the House
Judiciary Standing Conmittee could determne a process of
putting drugs on a schedule through the regulatory process. She
described it as a large piece of legislation that would be a
work of art in putting sideboards on what the regulations could
and would not allow,. She commented that it would be a good
task for this conmttee. Due to the urgency of the U 47700
problem she was unsure this legislation should be slowed down
to add her suggestion, although, it is a conversation that
shoul d t ake pl ace, she said.

2:42:28 PM
REPRESENTATI VE LEDQOUX expl ai ned t hat she under st ands

Representative Kreiss-Tonkins notion, yet the idea of putting
crimnal laws into regulations and going through the regulatory

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 3- February 1, 2017



process to decide a crimnal |law, as opposed to the legislative
process, is frightening to her and it nmay be unconstitutional.

REPRESENTATI VE KOPP advised the committee that this synthetic
drug has been identified for some tinme as a major problem wthin
the law enforcenment comunity. He expl ained, under AS 11.71,
Control |l ed Substances Advisory Commttee (CSAC), the commttee's
duty is to nmake sure substances are classified according to the
correct schedule in the state's statutes, and prepare a report

for the governor. The conmittee nenbers include a pharnacist,
nmedi cal people, law enforcenent, and others, and it reviews
various public safety effects on each drug. He rem nded the

committee that CSAC is in place, and he requested that this
| egi sl ation receive the nod of CSAC.

REPRESENTATIVE M LLETT remnded Representative Kopp that
initially she had advised the conmttee that this |egislation
cane as a recomrendation from CSAC. She said that AS 11.71.100
does a good job of identifying substances on the street, and the
commttee was forned to assist legislators in understanding the
subj ect of synthetic drugs, and that the drug Spice was used
under CSAC.

2:44: 49 PM

REPRESENTATI VE FANSLER agreed that the opioid epidemc in Al aska
crosses all cultures, barriers, is everywhere, and he thanked
the sponsor for this |egislation. He noted that he would be

interested in making sure the state has bodies giving the
| egislature recommendations such as this, and that the
|l egislation is passed tinely

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN said he noticed, within the report from
CSAC that tw different substances were recommended for
recl assification. He asked whether there was any intention of
nmovi ng on the other substance as well.

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT replied that the other substance was not
i ncluded because U- 47700 was a clearly defined substance that
the legislature could imediately put into statute. She said
she would entertain a friendly anendnent if he wanted to add the
ot her substance, although, she stressed, at this point U 47700
is hitting the streets and causing deaths in Al aska.

2:46: 32 PM

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -4- February 1, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE LEDOUX asked whether the deaths caused by this
substance were by overdoses, or inmpurities in the substance.

REPRESENTATI VE M LLETT pointed to the reports provided in the
conm ttee packets, and advised that U 47700 is an incredibly
hi gh potency drug that is eight tinmes as potent as fentanyl, and
fentanyl has caused sonme high profile deaths. She expl ai ned
that U- 47700 is an additive that in itself increases the potency
of the drug being used, and the deaths are caused by both
overdoses and inpurities because this drug is produced in
| aboratories across the world with no FDA approval. She added
that there is no direct use for this drug in that it was an
experinmental synthetic drug to use for surgeries, nuch |ike how
fentanyl is used.

2:48: 25 PM

ROBERT HENDERSON, Chief Assistant Attorney, GCeneral and Wite
Col | ar Crinme  Prosecutor, Ofice of Speci al Prosecuti on,
Department of Law (DCOL), explained that within his capacity at
the Departnent of Law (DOL) he is the chair of the Controlled
Substances Advisory Commttee (CSAC). He said he was avail able
to answer questions regarding CSAC s process or U 47700,
specifically.

2:49: 07 PM

REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN asked M. Henderson to briefly walk
through what adding this particular substance to the new
designation would have, and explained the inplications of
passing this |legislation and penalties.

2:49: 33 PM

MR. HENDERSON responded that by scheduling U-47700 as a schedul e
1A controlled substance, the penalties would include the
foll owi ng: mere possession of the substance would be a class A
m sdeneanor; possession with the intent to deliver |ess than one
gram a class C felony; possession with the intent to deliver
nore than one gram a class B felony; and the actual delivery of
the substance to a person under the age of 19, "if the person
delivering the substance and the person receiving the substance
is less than three years,"” an uncl assified felony.

2:50: 25 PM

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 5- February 1, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN asked him to spell out the sentences for
each of those offenses, under Senate Bill 91.

2:50:40 PM

MR. HENDERSON explained that wth mnmere possession of the
substance, first offense, there is no active jail tine and there
is alimted anmount of suspended tinme. The maxi mum sentence for
a person found guilty of possessing this substance would be 30
days with 30 days suspended. Wth regard to second conviction

under current law, no active jail tine could be inposed and the
suspended tine would be an upper suspension of 180 days, he
expl ai ned.

MR. HENDERSON explained a class C felony - possession with the
intent to distribute less than one gram the sentence would be
dictated by their crimnal history, but assum ng the person has
no crimnal felony history, it would be a probationary sentence
of up to 18 nonths suspended tine.

MR. HENDERSON expl ai ned the class B felony - possession of nore
than one gram the sentence would be zero to two years of active
jail time, authorized by the court, on a first felony
convi cti on. He continued that there are graduated sentences
depending wupon the person's crimnal history, particularly,
felony history.

2:52: 19 PM

REPRESENTATI VE KOPP added that there is a crimnal financial
penalty such that a msdeneanor is up to $10,000, and once it
noves into the felony range it noves up considerably.

MR. HENDERSON replied that he was correct.

REPRESENTATI VE KOPP explained to the conmttee that suspended
time nmeans that any infraction [punishes the person to] serve
that tine. He related that it nay appear a person "is off," but
the person is under the gun so to speak.

CHAIR CLAMAN |isted individuals online available for questions,
and opened public testinony on HB 24. After ascertaining no one
wi shed to testify, closed public testinmny on HB 24.

2:54: 33 PM

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 6- February 1, 2017



REPRESENTATI VE EASTMAN asked M. Henderson to explain the zero
fiscal note for DOL.

MR. HENDERSON opined that in the event U 47700 becones a
schedule 1A drug, DOL would incur the prosecution costs of
prosecuting and trying soneone in court in possession of the
drug. Whether or not that wll be a significant nunber of
prosecutions while nmoving forward is unknown, he pointed out.
Currently, with regard to an unscheduled drug, |aw enforcenent
is unable to seize that drug and because it is unable to seize
the drug, DOL is not necessarily seeing how frequent it has been
found by | aw enforcenent. He deferred to Dr. Butler to discuss
how often this substance is seen in overdose deaths.

2:56:27 PM

JEFF TURNER, Staff, Representative Charisse Mllett, Al aska
State Legislature, referred to the issue of creating a
regul atory systemto ban these types of drugs when they hit the
streets, and advised that the systemis in place in at least 10
states, 10 states have already placed energency bans on U 47700,
and sonme of those bans have becone pernanent. There are 17
states that have legislation before their legislature to outlaw
U-47700. Historically, he said, this drug was devel oped in 1976
by Upjohn in looking for a replacenent for norphine for cancer
patients, surgery patients, people with serious injuries, and
di scovered that it wasn't much different from norphine. Upj ohn
patented the drug and did not performclinical trials on hunmans.
Unfortunately, drug dealers in foreign countries, primarily
China, troll the internet |ooking for these patents and what
sort of design or synthetic drugs they can produce that are not
banned under any federal or state laws, and then sell it on the
i nternet. He explained that when the Drug Enforcenent
Adm ni stration (DEA) placed this drug on its list of schedule 1
controll ed substances, the internet sales pretty nuch went away,

except he googled Pink and found a website selling it. Even
t hough the website said it was based in South Korea there is no
way to authentic, the website also said the drug was for anim

testing; however, it recommended cutting the dosage in one-half
i f used for human consunption, he pointed out.

2:58: 36 PM

CHAI R CLAMAN asked for clarification that Congress added U 47700
to the federal list of controlled substances sone nont hs ago.

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE -7- February 1, 2017



MR. HENDERSON clarified that it was actually added by DEA
regul ati on because DEA has the ability to place the drug on its
schedule 1 list, at least tenporarily. He expl ained that the
drug can be listed for one to tw years, and then it can be
extended another year before deciding whether to ban it
per mnent|y.

CHAI R CLAMAN asked whether Congress nust finally take action to
add it permanently to the |ist.

MR. HENDERSON said that that is his understanding.

CHAI R CLAMAN asked whether the commttee would like to discuss

the bill further. After no response, asked for a notion to nove
the bill out of commttee.
3:00: 52 PM

REPRESENTATI VE FANSLER restated his notion and noved to report
HB 24, Version 30-LS0260\A out of commttee wth individual
recommendati ons and the acconpanying fiscal notes. There being
no objection, HB 24 noved from the House Judiciary Standing
Conmi ttee.

3:01: 32 PM
ADJ OURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House
Judiciary Standing Conmittee neeting was adjourned at 3:01 p. m

HOUSE JUD COW TTEE - 8- February 1, 2017



